THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Ralph K. Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Docket No. 07-ALJ-04-00517-AP

Fred Gatewood..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections..... Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2014-001199

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Douglas H. Westbrook, #6039
23 Broad St.
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 853-9600
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

JUL 02 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the ALC err in denying Gatewood's Motion to Supplement Record for section II(A)(C) of the motion because the documents proposed in those subsections had been received or considered by SCDC, or proffered but excluded, pursuant to ALC Rules 58B and D?
2. Did the ALC err in holding §24-1-295 governed deductions from Gatewood's gross wages because §24-3-40 was the governing statute?
3. Did the ALC err in holding §24-1-295 governed deductions from Gatewood's gross wages because §24-1-295 does not apply retroactively to Gatewood's pre-August 1, 2007 work?
4. Did the ALC err in applying §24-1-295 to Gatewood's pre-August 1, 2007 work because it violated due process?
5. Did the ALC err in applying §24-1-295 to Gatewood's pre-August 1, 2007 work because it impaired the obligations of contracts?
6. Did the ALC err in holding, pursuant to §24-1-295, that security and overhead were "other required deductions" in the 1998 contract because the clear and unambiguous terms of the contract indicate these costs were to be paid by SCDC at its expense?
7. Did the ALC err in ruling that overtime was not preserved for review because it was preserved, SCDC waived the issue preservation argument, the ALC raised the issue sua sponte, and Gatewood was entitled to overtime on the merits?
8. Did the ALC err in not granting Gatewood's request for pre and post

judgment interest, and to petition for costs and attorney fees, because this ruling was based on the ALC's erroneous ruling that SCDC could deduct security and overhead costs from Gatewood's \$4.00 per hour gross wage under §24-1-295?

9. Did the ALC err in declining to consider the issue of whether SCDC should have to process grievance for all workers even if they had not personally filed because this was a stated issue in Gatewood's appeal and the ALC did not state it was manifestly without merit?

10. Did the ALC err in declining to enjoin SCDC from further wage violations because such ruling was appropriate in these circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves inmate Fred Gatewood's grievance for past due wages under South Carolina law. Gatewood worked in the Lieber/Williams Technologies (WTI) work program between 2004 and at least 2009. When Gatewood worked, S.C. Code §24-3-430(D), the "prevailing wage" statute, had been replaced by a budget proviso which allowed SCDC to pay inmates a negotiated wage which could be less than the prevailing wage (Statutes at Large, No. 66, §37.31, effective July 2001). Similar budget provisos were passed until 2007 (Darrell Williams, Class Representative, et al. v. SCDC, et al. 641 S.E. 2d 885, 886, n. 2 (S.C., 2007)). In 2007, §24-1-295 was passed and contained language that was very similar to the previous budget provisos.

In 2002-2003, Gatewood and other inmates filed a class action in Circuit Court for back wages earned in the program (Darrell Williams, #219730, et al. v. SCDC, et al. Case No. 02-CP-18-134 (Dorchester County, 2002)).

On August 23, 2004, the Supreme Court issued decisions in Adkins, et al. v. SCDC 360 S.C. 413, 602 S.E. 2d 51 (S.C., 2004) and Wicker v. SCDC 360 S.C. 421, 602 S.E. 2d 56 (S.C., 2004). These decisions held that inmates could file prevailing wage grievances and appeal to the Administrative Law Court.

On September 27, 2004, Gatewood retained undersigned counsel to file grievance. On or about October 18, 2004, Gatewood filed his step 1 grievance with SCDC (step 1; R,). On October 28, 2004, SCDC issued its step 1 response, which was received by Gatewood on November 2, 2004 (step 1 resp.; R,). On February 3, 2006 and/or April 19, 2007, Gatewood filed his Amendment/Exhibits to grievance with SCDC (Amend/Exhibits; R,). On May 14, 2007, SCDC issued its step 2 final decision, which was received by Gatewood on May 22, 2007 (step 2 fin. dec.; R,). Both SCDC decisions denied the grievance as untimely and also on the merits.

On June 5, 2007, counsel filed Gatewood's appeal in the ALC (ALC Notice of Appeal; R,). Some 196 other inmates followed this same process. These appeals were consolidated in the ALC under the caption, Francis Ackerman, #266928, et al. v. SCDC Dock. No. 07-ALJ-04-00444, etc.

The ALC ordered the consolidated appeal to be briefed in three levels. After briefing and receiving the ALC's decision for Level One, counsel briefed the Level Two issue of timeliness of Gatewood's and others' grievances. On March 2 and 16, 2012, the ALC issued its decision that Gatewood's grievance was timely filed and should be briefed on the merits. All others were held untimely filed.

On March 29, 2012, all inmates filed Notice of Appeal in the Court of

Appeals of the ALC's March 2 and 16 orders, and a previous order. This appeal was captioned, Francis Ackerman, #266928, et al. v. SCDC Appellate Case No. 2012-210588.

On April 16, 2012, Gatewood filed his merits brief in the ALC as ordered. On June 19, 2012, the ALC issued its order that it had no jurisdiction to continue with Gatewood's merits briefing. On July 18, 2012, Gatewood filed Notice of Appeal in the Court of Appeals of the ALC's June 19 order.

On July 23, 2012, the Court of Appeals remanded the appeal in Francis Ackerman, #266928, et al. v. SCDC to the ALC to issue its Second Amended Order. On July 26, 2012, the ALC issued and filed its Second Amended Order. This order also directed the parties to merits brief Gatewood's grievance.

On August 22, 2012, inmates filed Notice of Appeal in the Court of Appeals in Francis Ackerman, #266928, et al. v. SCDC of the ALC's July 26 Second Amended Order, and a previous order. Gatewood did not appeal the portion of the Second Amended Order that he timely filed his grievance and the parties were to brief his grievance on the merits.

On August 24, 2012, Gatewood re-filed his merits brief with the ALC. On September 5, 2012, the ALC returned the brief unfiled because the matter had been appealed to the Court of Appeals and was no longer pending in the ALC.

On March 26, 2013, the Court of Appeals dismissed Gatewood's appeal to that Court.* On April 4, 2013, Gatewood filed a Petition for Rehearing of the dismissal. On July 5, 2013, the Court of Appeals denied the petition.

On August 26, 2013, the Court of Appeals remitted Gatewood's case to the

* This appeal was Appellate Case No. 2012-212574 filed on July 18, 2012.

ALC. On September 17, 2013, Gatewood filed his Motion to Supplement the Record in the ALC (Mot. to Supp. Record; R,). On October 21, 2013, SCDC filed its response to Gatewood's Motion to Supplement the Record (SCDC response to Mot. to Supp. Rec.; R,).

On October 29, 2013, in a teleconference with counsel, the ALC ruled it could proceed with merits briefing (Level Three) on the issue of Gatewood's entitlement to a \$4.00 per hour wage. However, the ALC stated it could not consider back wage calculations for Gatewood, and indicated such calculations would probably have to be made by SCDC on remand, which, if Gatewood were unsatisfied, could be re-appealed to the ALC.

On November 12, 2013, the ALC issued an order denying Gatewood's September 17, 2013 Motion to Supplement the Record (ALC Nov. 12, 2013 order; R,).

On February 19, 2014, Gatewood filed his Level Three brief in the ALC (Gatewood ALC brief; R,). On April 7, 2014, SCDC filed its responsive brief (SCDC ALC brief; R,). On April 17, 2014, Gatewood filed his reply brief (Gatewood ALC reply brief; R,).

On April 23, 2014, SCDC filed its Motion to Strike Argument From Appellant's Reply Brief (SCDC Mot. to Strike; R,).

On April 29, 2014, the ALC issued its order affirming SCDC's denial of Gatewood's grievance (ALC April 29, 2014 order; R,).

The amount involved on appeal has not been determined. In Gatewood's ALC brief, he requested a remand to SCDC to calculate his back wages at a gross wage rate of \$4.00 per hour (Gatewood ALC brief, 12; R,).

ARGUMENT

1. The ALC erred in denying Gatewood's Motion to Supplement the Record for section II(A)(C) of the motion because the documents proposed in those subsections had been received or considered by SCDC, or proffered but excluded, pursuant to ALC Rules 58B and D.

The standard of review is as follows. Review must be confined to the record. The appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the ALC as to weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The Court of Appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the ALC's finding, conclusion, or decision is: (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) affected by other error of law; (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion (S.C. Code §1-23-610(B)).

The proposed documents in Gatewood's motion, section II(A)(C), were Gatewood's pay stubs and time cards (A); and Appendix 1, page 12, to Gatewood's ALC Level Two brief (C) (Appendix 1, p. 12; R,).^{*} Counsel does not have the documents in section II(A).

^{*} Gatewood's work and grievance file dates are designated for the record in Appendix 1, p. 12; R, ; SCDC's spreadsheet, p. 11; R, ; and updated "Exhibit F", pp. 123-125; R, . These records show Gatewood's pay dates to be at least October 18, 2004 to September 1, 2008, and March 2 to April 13, 2009. Gatewood contends he worked again for 90 days in 2011. Appendix 1, p. 12, SCDC's Sept. 6, 2011 spreadsheet, p. 11, and updated "Exhibit F", pp. 123-125, were filed in or proposed for the ALC record in Francis Ackerman, #266928, et al. v. SCDC Dock. No. 07-ALJ-04-00444, etc.

In its order, the ALC stated (ALC Nov. 12, 2013 order, 2; R,)::

As an initial matter, during the conference call the Court held on October 29, 2013..(I)t was also determined and agreed that the matter before this Court is an appeal, not a contested case, and as such, this Court cannot make new findings of fact. Rule 58(D) of the South Carolina Administrative Law Court Rules (SCALCR) begins with the phrase "(w)here applicable, the record of **the contested case** (emphasis in original) shall consist of.." Because Appellant, in Section II(A)(B)(C) and (E) of his Motion, seeks to supplement the Record on Appeal with documents that were not received or considered in the administrative hearing before the Department, the Court must deny Appellant's Motion to Supplement Record with respect to these sections of his Motion.

Respectfully, undersigned neither recalls, nor do call notes indicate, that "contested case" was mentioned on October 29. Also, it was not mentioned in the Motion to Supplement or SCDC's response.

Gatewood contends the ALC appeal was a "contested case" under the ALC rules. And further, the proposed documents had been considered by SCDC under Rule 58B or proffered but excluded under Rule 58D, and thus properly includable in the ALC record.

ALC Rule 2E defines "contested case" as follows:

Contested Case is defined in Section 1-23-505. It is a case for which a hearing is conducted pursuant to Article 3, Chapter 23 of Title 1, the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act, and includes hearings conducted by the Administrative Law Court pursuant to Section 1-23-600(A), hearings **required by due process** under the South Carolina or United States Constitutions, or as **otherwise provided by law**.

Moreover, in Wicker v. SCDC 360 S.C. 421, 424-425, 602 S.E. 2d 56, 58, n. 1, the Supreme Court stated:

We find the state's statutory mandate that inmates be paid the prevailing wage creates such an interest, which may not be denied without **due process**. Piatt v. McDougall, supra.

Accordingly, in this **very limited circumstance**¹ (emphasis in original), we hold the DOC's failure to pay in accordance with the statutes is reviewable by the ALJ.

¹We note that our holding today is extremely limited and is not to be viewed as **expanding the jurisdiction of the ALJD** in any other circumstance.

Finally, ALC Rule 58 reads, in part:

Where applicable, the record of the **contested case** shall consist of:

..

B. All evidence received or considered;

..

D. All proffers of proof of excluded evidence;

An SCDC admission from inmates' class action states that, after July 2000, pay rate and hours information on SCDC spreadsheets is not accurate, and pay stubs and time cards must be consulted for that information (Sept. 1, 2004 SCDC response to Fourth Request for Admission, 3(g); R,).

Gatewood filed his step 1 on or about October 18, 2004 (step 1; R,). His step 2 is stamp-dated November 4, 2004 (step 2; R,). SCDC responses were received on November 2, 2004 (step 1 resp.; R,), and May 22, 2007 (step 2 fin. dec.; R,). Thus, Gatewood's administrative hearing spanned the period 2004-2007. Gatewood contends SCDC must have consulted his pay stubs and time cards to pay him during this period since they were the only accurate documents available. This conclusion is supported by Gatewood's final decision which states that his "participation and pay records were reviewed" before SCDC's final decision (step 2 fin. dec.; R,).

Gatewood contends the above evidence indicates that SCDC most probably considered his pay stubs and time cards during pendency of his administrative hearing. As a result, these documents should fall within Rule 58B.

Gatewood's ALC appeal was required by due process (Wicker). For that reason, Gatewood contends the ALC appeal was a "contested case" under Rules 2E and 58, and Rule 58D should cover proffers made to the ALC.

Inmates proffered Exhibit 1 and Appendix 1 for inclusion in the ALC record (May 23, 2011 Mot. to Supp. Rec., 2; R, ; Sept. 13, 2011 ALC Level 2 brief, 2; R,). At least regarding Exhibit 1, the request was denied (ALC order of Aug. 5, 2011, 6; R,). And, Gatewood repeated the proffer (Sept. 17, 2013 Mot. to Supp. Rec., 4-5; R,). This motion was also denied (ALC Nov. 12, 2013 order, 2; R,).

Gatewood contends that, since Appendix 1, p. 12, has been proffered and excluded by the ALC, it should have come in the ALC record under Rule 58D.

Gatewood submits that the ALC ruling excluding the above documents prejudiced his substantive rights because it was clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record (pay stubs and time cards); and was affected by other error of law (pay stubs and time cards, and Appendix 1, p. 12) (S.C. Code §1-23-610(B)(d)(e)).

2. The ALC erred in holding §24-1-295 governed deductions from Gatewood's gross wages because §24-3-40 was the governing statute.

In the ALC, the primary issue for decision was whether Gatewood was entitled to a \$4.00 per hour gross wage (ALC April 29, 2014 order, 4; R,). The ALC agreed that Gatewood was so entitled (Id, 8; R,). However, the ALC held that, based on the contract terms between SCDC and Williams Technologies (WTI), security costs and overhead, including health, safety, and welfare, constituted "other required deductions" under §24-1-295 that were

deductible from the \$4.00 wage (ALC Apr. 29, 2014 order, 8; R,).

Initially, Gatewood contends the ALC erred in raising this issue which was not briefed by the parties (State v. Austin 409 S.E. 2d 811 (SC App, 1991)).

On the merits, Gatewood contends that §24-3-40, not §24-1-295, governed deductions from wages, and deductions for security and overhead, including health, safety and welfare, were not allowable under §24-3-40. In 1995, the legislature enacted §24-3-430 as part of Article 3 of Chapter 24 of the Code. Subsections (A)(B) and (H) of §24-3-430 read, in part:

(A) The Director of the Department of Corrections may establish a program involving the use of inmate labor..in private industry for the manufacturing and processing of goods..**or the provision of services..**

(B) The director may enter into contracts necessary to implement this program..

..

(H) The earnings of an inmate authorized to work at paid employment pursuant to this section must be paid directly to the Department of Corrections and applied as provided under **Section 24-3-40.**

In 1995, Section 24-3-40 read, in part:

(A) Unless otherwise provided by law, the employer of a prisoner authorized to work at paid employment in the community under Sections 24-3-20 to 24-3-50 or **in a prison industry program provided under Article 3 of this chapter** shall pay the prisoner's wages directly to the Department of Corrections.

The Director of the Department of Corrections shall deduct the following amounts from the **gross wages** of the prisoner.

Section 24-3-40(A) then lists specific allowable deductions for restitution/victim assistance; child support/room and board/prisoner purchases of incidentals; benefit of prisoner; and taxes. There is no catch-all for "other required deductions", and no listed deduction for security, overhead, or health, safety and welfare of inmates.

In 1998, SCDC and WTI signed a contract to set up this work program. On page one, the second clause states (contract, 1; R,):

WHEREAS, Prison Industries is a division of the South Carolina Department of Corrections charged with establishing business relationships with private enterprise so as to fulfill the intent of **Section 24-3-310 Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976** as amended; and has all necessary authorization to enter into this agreement and to bind the State of South Carolina to all the terms contained herein;

The contract states that it "shall terminate" (Id, 8; R,) if Section 24-3-310 or any provision of Chapter 24 of the Code is materially changed or repealed (Id, 9; R,). SCDC also warrants that it complies with Chapter 24 (Id, 10; R,). Finally, a "bullet sheet" preceding the contract is entitled, "Williams Technology Transmissions Service Contract"(Bullet; R,).

In Darrell Williams, Class Repr., et al. v. SCDC, et al. 641 S.E. 2d 885 (S.C., Feb. 26, 2007), the Supreme Court affirmed the Circuit Court's dismissal of inmates' class action. The class action concerned the same work program as the present case. In Williams, 641 S.E. 2d at 887, the Court stated how inmates are paid and deductions made from wages:

The contract provides that WTI will pay DOC a flat rate of \$4.00 per hour per inmate and the DOC is responsible to pay inmate workers and handle payroll deductions. **Of even greater significance is the fact that the legislature has specifically mandated how inmate wages for prison industry labor are to be handled. Section 24-3-40 (Supp. 2005) provides:**

Disposition of wages of prisoner allowed to work at paid employment. (emphasis in original)

(A) Unless otherwise provided by law, the employer of a prisoner authorized to work at paid employment..in a prison industry program provided under Article 3 of this chapter shall pay the prisoner's wages directly to the Department of Corrections. (Emphasis in original)

This section also includes **specific deductions** from inmate wages that are to be made by the Director of DOC, including restitution to victims, payment to the State Office of Victim Assistance, child support, and state and federal taxes..

In Torrence, et al. v. SCDC, et al. 646 S.E. 2d 866, 867 (S.C., May 7, 2007), inmates alleged (1) SCDC's prison industries partner, Insilco, paid SCDC \$7.17 per hour for their labor but SCDC paid inmates only \$5.25 per hour; and (2) SCDC improperly diverted \$1.92 from the \$7.17 and deposited it into an SCDC "surplus fund". Inmates sought a declaratory judgment against SCDC for violating §24-3-430 and §24-3-40. At 646 S.E. 2d 868-869, the Court stated:

The Legislature specifically authorized inmate labor in private industry via S.C. Code Ann. section 24-3-430... Moreover, section 24-3-430(H) expressly directs that "(t)he earnings of an inmate authorized to work at paid employment pursuant to this section **must be paid directly to the (DOC) and applied as provided under Section 24-3-40**" (Emphasis in original)

Section 24-3-40 governs the disposition of prisoner wages and provides in pertinent part:

(A) Unless otherwise provided by law, the employer of a prisoner authorized to work at paid employment..in a prison industry program..shall pay the prisoner's wages directly to the (DOC).

The Director of the Department of Corrections shall deduct the following amounts from the gross wages of the prisoner:

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