THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 22 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Trial Court Case No. 07-ALJ-04-0517-AP
Appellate Case No. 2014-001199

Fred Gatewood, #289775, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections, Respondent.

RESPONDENT SCDC'S BRIEF

Lake E. Summers (SC Bar No. 64146)
Katherine Phillips (SC Bar No. 77840)
Malone, Thompson, Summers & Ott LLC
339 Heyward Street, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Office: (803) 254-3300
Fax: (803)-254-0309
E-mail: summers@mtsolfirm.com
phillips@mtsolfirm.com

Counsel for Respondent SCDC

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ALC CORRECTLY DENIED THE APPELLANT’S MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT THE RECORD ON APPEAL

The Appellant contends that the ALC erred by “denying [his] Motion to Supplement the Record for sections [II(A) and II(C)]⁶ of the motion.”⁷

In its November 12, 2013 Order, the ALC ruled that the issue before the court was “whether the Appellant was entitled to a gross pay rate of \$4.00 per hour” during the time he participated in the prison industries service project at SCDC. The ALC further determined that ALC Rule 58(D) applied to the Appellant’s appeal of SCDC’s denial of his grievance. (R. p. 26). The ALC concluded that the Appellant misconstrued ALC Rule 58(D) because the “Record on

⁶ The ALC’s November 12, 2013 Order denied the Appellant’s Motion to Supplement the Record with the materials he identified in Sections II(A), (B), (C), and (E) of his Motion. (R. p. 26). The Appellant only contends that the ALC erred by denying his motion to include the material identified in Sections II(A) and II(C) of his motion. Accordingly, SCDC respectfully submits that the Appellant has not challenged the ALC’s denial of his motion to supplement the record with the material he identified in Sections II(B) and (E).

⁷ Appellant’s Brief, Argument 1, pp. 6 – 9.

Appeal” discussed in Rule 58(D) consists of the record considered by SCDC not the ALC during briefing by the parties. *Compare to ALC Rule 36.* (R. pp. 25 – 28).

The Appellant has the burden to prove that the ALC’s exclusion of materials from the Record on Appeal affected the ALC’s ruling and prejudiced the Appellant. Snyder's Auto World, Inc. v. George Coleman Motor Co., 434 S.E.2d 310, 312 (S.C. Ct. App. 1993) (“The burden is on the appellant to show not only error, but also prejudice.”). The Appellant’s arguments are nothing other than his disagreement with the ALC’s interpretation of ALC Rule 58, and conjecture that “SCDC must have” and “probably” considered these materials when it denied the Appellant’s Step 1 and Step 2 grievances.⁸ Accordingly, SCDC respectfully submits that the Appellant has articulated nothing other than a “mere expression of dissatisfaction with the ruling,” which is insufficient Al-Shabazz, 527 S.E.2d at 755

The Appellant described the materials that he identified in Section II(A) of his motion, as “pay stubs and time cards.”⁹ The materials the Appellant sought to include by Section II(C) of his motion consisted of additional arguments by the Appellant in support of the “Level 2” brief in Ackerman and in support of his “Level 3” brief to the ALC. The Appellant does not attempt to explain how the ALC’s denial of his Motion to Supplement the Record on Appeal with these materials affected the ALC’s ultimate decision that the Appellant was not entitled by contract or statute to receive the \$4.00 per hour negotiated wage. Judy v. Judy, 682 S.E.2d 836, 842 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, appellate courts will not set aside judgments due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”); Jamison v. Ford Motor Co., 644 S.E.2d 755, 761 (S.C. Ct. App. 2007) (“To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the complaining

⁸ Appellant’s Brief, Argument 1, pp. 6 – 9.

⁹ Id., p. 8.

party must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice.”). Accordingly, even if the ALC erred by denying the Appellant’s motion to supplement the Record on Appeal before the ALC, the ALC’s ruling is harmless error. Judy, 682 S.E.2d at 842 (“Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.”).

Therefore, this Court should affirm the ALC’s November 12, 2013 Order which denied the Appellant’s Motion to Supplement the Record on Appeal with materials he identified in Sections II(A) and II(C) of his motion. Alternatively, this Court should find that any error by the ALC in denying the Appellant’s motion to supplement the record was harmless.

II. THE ALC CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT S.C. CODE § 24-1-295, NOT § 24-3-40, APPLIED TO THE LABOR THE APPELLANT VOLUNTARILY PROVIDED TO THE PRISON INDUSTRIES SERVICE PROJECT OPERATED AT LIEBER

As acknowledged by the Appellant in his brief, the South Carolina General Assembly, starting in 2001, enacted a budget proviso applicable only to prison industries *service* projects operated by SCDC, such as the service project it operated at Lieber in which WTI originally participated, and now Caterpillar, Inc. participates as the private industry sponsor. In its entirety, the first proviso, which became effective July 1, 2001, stated as follows:

37.31. (CORR: Prison Industry Service Contracts) The Director of the Department of Corrections may enter into contracts with private sector entities that would allow for inmate labor to be provided for prison industry **service** work. The use of such inmate labor may not result in the displacement of employed workers within the local region in which work is being performed. **Service** work is defined as any work such as repair, replacement of original manufactured items, packaging, sorting, labeling, or similar work that is **not** original equipment manufacturing. **The department may negotiate the wage to be paid for inmate labor provided under prison industry service work contracts, and such wages may be less than the prevailing wage for work of a similar nature in the private sector. [emphasis supplied].**

2001 – 2002 General Appropriations Bill, H. 3687, Section 37 – No. 4 – [SCDC] (June 21, 2001).

Contrary to the description provided by the Appellant in his “Statement of the Case,” the above-quoted proviso did not amend § 24-3-430 in any fashion whatsoever.¹⁰ The proviso represented an enactment by the legislature to address only prison industries *service* projects, and, accordingly, the rate(s) at which SCDC paid inmates who voluntarily participated in Prison Industries Enhancement Certification [“PIECP”] projects it operated at various other facilities, under the provisions of § 24-3-315, § 24-3-410, and, of course, § 24-3-430, were not impacted at all by the General Assembly’s enactment of the 2001 budget proviso.¹¹

The General Assembly enacted similar, if not identical, budget provisos each year until it enacted S.C. Code Ann. § 24-1-295, effective August 1, 2007. *See* Prison Industries Act, Act No. 68, 117th Session (June 18, 2007). In relevant part, § 24-1-295 provides as follows:

The Director of [SCDC] may enter into contracts with private sector entities that allow inmate labor to be provided for prison industry **service** work and export work that involves exportation of products. The use of inmate labor may not result in the displacement of employed workers within the local region in which work is being performed. Pursuant to this section, **service** work is defined as any work that includes repair, replacement of original manufactured items, packaging, sorting, recycling, labeling, or similar work that **is not** original equipment manufacturing. The department may negotiate the wage to be paid for inmate labor provided under prison industry **service** work contracts and export work contracts, **and these wages may be less than the prevailing wage for work of a similar nature in the private sector.** However, the Director of the Department of Corrections shall deduct the following from the gross earnings of the inmates engaged in prison industry service work in addition to any other required deductions: [emphasis supplied].

¹⁰ See R. p. 114.

¹¹ The types of projects operated by SCDC in Adkins v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 602 S.E.2d 51 (S.C. 2004) and Wicker v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 602 S.E.2d 56 (S.C. 2004) differed from the service project operated by SCDC at Lieber, and, therefore, the budget proviso discussed above did not and does not apply to the hourly rates of pay associated with these projects.

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is for the Court to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Wade v. Berkeley Cnty., 559 S.E.2d 586, 588 (S.C. 2002). The first question a court must consider is whether the statute’s meaning is “clear on its face.” Id. “If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.” Id. (quoting Paschal v. State Election Comm’n, 454 S.E.2d 890, 892 (S.C. 1995)). See also Ward v. West Oil Co., Inc., 692 S.E.2d 516, 519 (S.C. 2010) (same). “The text of the statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent.” Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (S.C. 2003). If a statute’s language is ambiguous, the court must construe the terms of the statute. Wade, 559 S.E.2d at 588. Furthermore, “the court should not consider the particular clause being construed in isolation, but should read it in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law.” State v. Prince, 517 S.E.2d 229, 232 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999).

The language of the applicable budget provisos, which the General Assembly ultimately codified in § 24-1-295, is clear and unambiguous: SCDC may “negotiate the wage to be paid for inmate labor under prison industry *service* work contracts ... and these wages may be less than the prevailing wage.” [emphasis supplied]. The Appellant does not dispute this clear and unambiguous language.

Absolutely nothing in either the budget provisos nor § 24-1-295 mandate any specific wage or wage range that SCDC must pay inmates, including the Appellant, who voluntarily participate in prison industries *service* projects, such as the project operated at Lieber.

The General Assembly set neither a floor nor a ceiling for the hourly inmate labor rate that SCDC may negotiate with the private industry sponsor in all such prison industry *service*

work contracts. As shown further below, the hourly rate of pay that SCDC pays individual inmates for the labor they voluntarily provide to such service projects *was included* in the hourly inmate labor rate that SCDC negotiated with WTI in the 1998 Contract.

Consequently, the Appellant's claim that the budget provisos and/or the provisions of § 24-1-295 required SCDC to pay him \$4.00 per hour for the labor he voluntarily provided to the service project operated at Lieber is completely unsupported by the clear and unambiguous text of the budget provisos and § 24-1-295. Stated plainly, just because the hourly inmate labor rate that SCDC charged WTI for effectively leasing the inmates' labor equaled \$4.00, which is less than the rather purported "prevailing wage" of between \$8.40 and \$12.06 that the Appellant and his cohorts outlandishly claimed in their Step 1 grievances, does not mean that SCDC was required to pay the individual inmates who voluntarily participated in the service project at Lieber at the rate of \$4.00 per hour.

The Appellant further contends that our Supreme Court in Torrence, et al. v. SCDC, et al., 646 S.E.2d 866 (S.C. 2007) and Darrell Williams, Class Representative, et al. v. SCDC, et al., 641 S.E.2d 885, n. 2 (S.C., 2007) held that all deductions from inmate wages are governed by § 24-3-40.¹² In his argument, however, the Appellant fails to accept that the prison industries project at issue in Torrence was a PIECP project, not a service project, as explained above. As accurately explained by the ALC in its April 29, 2014 Order, § 24-3-40 does not apply to this case because § 24-3-40 applies to PIECP projects, not service projects. Section 24-1-295, not § 24-3-40 applies, to *service* projects, like the one the Appellant participated in at Lieber. (R. p. 33 n. 6).

¹² See R. pp. 123 – 124.

Moreover, the sole issue in Williams was whether the inmates could maintain a private right of action under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act. Williams, 641 S.E.2d at 886. Ultimately, the court held that inmates could not. Id. at 888. The court cited § 24-3-40 as evidence of the legislature’s intent as to the entity responsible for paying inmate wages. The Williams Court did not consider whether § 24-3-40 applied to service projects. Id. at 887. Moreover, Williams did not discuss or distinguish between PIECP projects and service projects.

Critically, the legislature had not enacted § 24-1-295 when our Supreme Court issued its decisions in Torrence and Williams. More importantly, if § 24-3-40 applies to inmates wages in service projects *and* PIECP projects, as advocated by the Appellant, then § 24-1-295 would have absolutely no meaning. Such an absurd result is contrary to the cardinal rules of statutory construction, which is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. Grier v. AMISUB OF S.C., Inc., 725 S.E.2d 693, 695 (S.C. 2012).

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the ALC’s ruling that § 24-1-295, not § 24-3-40, applies to service projects, such as the project in which the Appellant participated in at Lieber.

III. THE ALC DID NOT APPLY § 24-1-295 RETROACTIVELY TO THE APPELLANT’S PRE-AUGUST 2007 WORK

The Appellant contends that the ALC erred by holding that § 24-1-295 governed deductions from the Appellant’s pre-August 2007 work,¹³ and by purportedly doing so, the ALC violated the Appellant’s due process rights¹⁴ and violated the South Carolina Constitution by “impair[ing] the obligation of contracts.¹⁵”

¹³ Appellant’s Brief, Argument 3, pp. 15 – 16.

¹⁴ Id., Argument 4, pp. 16 – 18.

¹⁵ Id., Argument 5, pp. 18 – 21. SCDC respectfully responds to Appellant’s arguments 3 – 5 collectively. See also Section IV below.

SCDC respectfully submits that the Appellant did not raise these arguments before the ALC and the ALC did not rule on these arguments in its April 29, 2014 Order. Accordingly, the Appellant did not preserve these arguments for appellate review and this Court should dismiss the Appellant's arguments 3 – 5 in their entirety. Doe v. Roe, 631 S.E.2d 317, 330 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006) (“An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”).

Even if the Appellant preserved these arguments for appellate review, the ALC did not apply § 24-1-295 retroactively to the labor the Appellant voluntarily provided to the prison industries service project before § 24-1-295 was enacted in August 2007.

Before § 24-1-295 was enacted in August 2007, no statute mandated SCDC to deduct monies from an inmate's wages that he received due to his voluntary participation in the prison industries service project. However, before the legislature enacted § 24-1-295, SCDC entered into the 1998 Contract with WTI, which required SCDC to deduct security and overhead expenses from the \$4.00 negotiated wage it invoiced the private industry sponsor. The ALC recognized this distinction. Specifically, the ALC observed that “SCDC was required by the terms of the 1998 Contract, specifically under Section 3.3, ‘to pay inmate workers, cover security costs and P.I. overhead, including any costs for health, safety, and welfare of the inmates, taxes or other payroll deduction...’” (R. p. 36). Thus, the ALC concluded that “security costs and overhead were contractually required deductions,” before § 24-1-295 was enacted. (R. p. 36).

Accordingly, the ALC did not apply § 24-1-295 retroactively to the Appellant's Pre-August 2007 labor, and this Court should affirm the ALC's ruling that SCDC was required by contract, not statute, to deduct security and overhead costs from the wage SCDC negotiated with WTI before § 24-1-295 was enacted. Moreover, because the ALC did not apply § 24-1-295

retroactively to the Appellant's wages before August 2007, this Court should conclude that the ALC's Order did not violate the Appellant's due process rights or violate the South Carolina's Constitution related to obligation of contracts.

IV. THE ALC CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NEVER ENTITLED TO RECEIVE \$4.00 PER HOUR FOR THE LABOR HE VOLUNTARILY PROVIDED TO THE PRISON INDUSTRIES SERVICE PROJECT

The Appellant contends that the ALC erred by concluding that SCDC was contractually required to deduct security and overhead costs and those deductions were "other required deductions" under § 24-1-295. (R. pp. 32 – 37). The Appellant contends that, pursuant to the 1998 Contract, security and overhead costs were "at SCDC's expense."¹⁶

SCDC respectfully submits that the clear and unambiguous terms of the 1998 Contract required SCDC to deduct security and overhead expenses from the \$4.00 negotiated wage it invoiced the private industry sponsor, before and after § 24-1-295 was enacted and irrespective of the other required deductions language from § 24-1-295.

A. Applicable Provisions of the 1998 Contract

1. The Parties to the 1998 Contract

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